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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

WACO DIVISION
Monticello Enterprises LLC,
Plaintiff
V. Case No. 6:23-cv-00753
Macy’s, Inc.; JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Macy’s Retail Holdings, LLC;
Macys.com, LLC; and
Bluemercury, Inc.

Defendants.

ORIGINAL COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT

Plaintiff Monticello Enterprises, LLC (“Monticello” or “Plaintiff”) files this Complaint
for patent infringement against Macy’s, Inc.; Macy's Retail Holdings, LLC; Macys.com, LLC;
and Bluemercury, Inc. (Collectively “Macy’s” or “Defendants”), and alleges as follows:

I. NOTICE OF RELATED CASES

This case is related to the following active cases:
e Monticello Enterprises, LLC v. Petco Health & Wellness Company, Inc., et al,
(case number to be assigned); and

e Monticello Enterprises, LLC v. Starbucks Corporation, (case number to be

assigned.
II. NATURE OF THE ACTION
1. This is an action for patent infringement arising under 35 U.S.C. § 1 et seq.
III. PARTIES
2. Monticello is a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws

of the State of Maryland with its principal place of business in Huntingtown, Maryland.
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3. Upon information and belief, Defendant Macy’s, Inc. is a corporation
organized under the laws of the State of Delaware with a principal place of business located at
151 West 34th Street, New York, New York 10001and also maintains a place of business in this
district at 3311 Esperanza Crossing, Austin, Tx 78758. Macy’s, Inc. may be served c/o
Corporate Creations Network Inc., 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Building Ste 104, Wilmington,
Delaware 19810.

4. Upon information and belief, Defendant Macy’s Retail Holdings, LLC is a
limited liability corporation organized under the laws of the State of Ohio with a principal place
of business located at 151 West 34th Street, New York, New York 10001. Defendant Macy’s
Retail Holdings, LLC. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Macy’s, Inc. Macy’s Retail Holdings,
LLC also maintains a place of business in this district at 3311 Esperanza Crossing, Austin, Tx
78758. Macy’s Retail Holdings, LLC is registered to do business in Texas and may be served
c/o Corporate Creations Network Inc, located at 5444 Westheimer #1000, Houston, TX 77056.

5. Upon information and belief, Defendant Macys.com, LLC is a limited liability
corporation organized under the laws of the State of Ohio with a principal place of business
located at 151 West 34th Street, New York, New York 10001. Defendant Macys.com, LLC. is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Macy’s, Inc. and may be served c¢/o Corporate Creations Network
Inc, located at 19 E. Court Street, Cincinnati, OH 45202.

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant Bluemercury, Inc. is a corporation
organized under the laws of the State of Delaware with a principal place of business located at
151 West 34th Street, New York, New York 10001. Defendant Bluemercury, Inc. is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Macy’s, Inc. Bluemercury, Inc also maintains a place of business in this

district at 9722 Great Hills Trail, Austin, TX 78759. Bluemercury, Inc is registered to do
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business in Texas and may be served c¢/o Corporate Creations Network Inc, located at 5444
Westheimer #1000, Houston, TX 77056.

7. On information and belief, Macy’s, Inc. directs and control the activity of
Macy’s Retail Holdings, LLC, Macys.com, LLC, and Bluemercury, Inc. (collectively the
“Subsidiary Defendants™) and has full control of their business, property, and operations. On
information and belief, Macy’s, Inc. is the sole manager of the Subsidiary Defendants. For
example, Macy’s, Inc. directs parties interested in shopping for its products online to the website
www.macys.com operated by Macys.com, LLC. On information and belief, the revenues and
profits of the Subsidiary Defendants are publicly reported by Macy’s, Inc. as the revenues and
profits of Macy’s, Inc. without separate attribution.

8. On information and belief, employees of the Subsidiary Defendants, including
employees of Macys.com, LLC who are involved in the development and operation of the
www.macys.com website accused of infringement in this litigation, routinely and publicly
represent themselves as employees of Macy’s, Inc. On information and belief, this takes place
with the full approval and explicit or tacit endorsement of Defendants.

0. As a result of these and other facts, Defendants are not separate and distinct
business entities. The actions and property of each Defendant are attributable to each other
Defendant. Macy’s, Inc. is the alter ego of each other Defendant.

IV. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10. This Court has original jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a).
11. Upon information and belief, Defendants are subject to personal jurisdiction of

this Court based upon them having regularly conducted business, including the acts complained
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of herein, within the State of Texas and this judicial district and/or deriving substantial revenue
from goods and services provided to individuals in Texas and in this District.

12. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. §1400(b) because
Defendants have committed acts of patent infringement in this District and have regular and
established places of business in this District. Specifically, Defendants operate a Macy’s Store in
this district at 3311 Esperanza Crossing, Austin, Tx 78758; and operate a Bluemercury store in
this district at 9722 Great Hills Trail, Austin, TX 78759.

13. On information and belief, except for Bluemercury, Inc., which has its own
place of business in this district, the places of business of each Defendant are places of business
of the other Defendants. On information and belief, each Defendant relies on the continuous
ability to use and regularly uses places of business nominally owned or leased and controlled in
part by another party to conduct its business in this District and surrounding areas—including, as
applicable, the facility at 3311 Esperanza Crossing, Austin, Tx 78758.

V. PATENTS

14. The United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and legally issued U.S.
Patent No. 9,824,408 (the “’408 patent”), entitled “Browser Payment Request API,” on
November 21, 2017. Monticello is the legal owner of the 408 patent by assignment. A true and
correct copy of the 408 patent is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

15. The United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and legally issued U.S.
Patent No. 10,121,186 (the “’186 patent”), entitled “System and Method of Using a Browser
Application Programming Interface for Making Payments,” on November 6, 2018. Monticello is
the legal owner of the *186 patent by assignment. A true and correct copy of the *186 patent is

attached hereto as Exhibit B.
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16. The United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and legally issued U.S.
Patent No. 10,643,266 (the “’266 patent”), entitled “System and Method for In-app Payments,”
on May 5, 2020. Monticello is the legal owner of the 266 patent by assignment. A true and
correct copy of the 266 patent is attached hereto as Exhibit C.

17. The United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and legally issued U.S.
Patent No. 11,004,139 (the “’139 patent”), entitled “System and Method for Providing
Simplified In Store Purchases and In-app Purchases Using a Use-interface-based Payment API,”
on May 11, 2021. Monticello is the legal owner of the *139 patent by assignment. A true and
correct copy of the 139 patent is attached hereto as Exhibit D.

18. The United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and legally issued U.S.
Patent No. 11,461,828 (the “’828 patent”), entitled “System and Method for Receiving Data at a
Merchant Device From a User Device Over a Wireless Link,” on October 4, 2022. Monticello is
the legal owner of the 828 patent by assignment. A true and correct copy of the *828 patent is
attached hereto as Exhibit E.

19. The United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and legally issued U.S.
Patent No. 11,468,497 (the “’497 patent”), entitled “System and Method for Receiving Data at a
Merchant Device From a User Device Over a Wireless Link,” on October 11, 2022. Monticello
is the legal owner of the *497 patent by assignment. A true and correct copy of the 497 patent is
attached hereto as Exhibit F.

VI. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

A. Monticello

20. Thomas Isaacson, the founder of Monticello, is a serial innovator. He is listed
as an inventor on more than 120 patent applications covering a variety of inventions. In 2014,
Mr. Isaacson filed the applications that matured into the *408, *186, *266, *139, *828, and *497
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patents (collectively the “Asserted Patents”), which are directed at improving and simplifying
making purchases on a website through a browser and on a mobile device through a merchant
application. Mr. Isaacson developed a way to simplify the user experience when making such
purchases by disclosing an updated browser having an application programming interface
(“API”) for communicating payment data between the browser and a site for processing
payments of purchases and to reduce the number of user interactions needed for a purchasing
process. Mr. Isaacson’s innovations as claimed in the Asserted Patents provide fast and secure
methods for delivering stored payment data to a merchant upon the purchaser’s approval of the
transaction so that merchants, such as the Defendants, can provide their customers with a
simplified, more reliable, and more secure shopping experience both online and in the store.

21. Mr. Isaacson’s inventions have been recognized by leading providers of online
payment services, several of whom have taken licenses to the Asserted Patents.

B. Macy’s

22.  Macy’s describes itself as “an omni-channel retail organization operating
stores, websites and mobile applications under three brands (Macy’s, Bloomingdale’s and
bluemercury) that sell a wide range of merchandise, including apparel and accessories (men’s,
women’s and kids’), cosmetics, home furnishings and other consumer goods . . . [with] stores in
43 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico and Guam.” Defendants enable customers using
certain Apple devices to checkout with Apple Pay when making purchases from their websites,
www.macys.com and www.bluemercury.com. Defendants also enable customers using certain
Apple devices to checkout with Apple Pay when using Defendants’ iOS applications, and
Defendants’ in-store Point-of-sale (“POS”) terminals (collectively “Accused Instrumentalities™).

23.  For example, when Apple Pay is available to the customer, Defendants’
websites prominently presents the “Apple Pay” button on the “Bag” screen to enable and
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encourage the customer to complete the purchase using Apple Pay before entering the checkout
process. See Figures 1 and 2, available during the checkout process at www.macys.com and

www.bluemercury.com, respectively.

M- < ()] macys.com ¢ h + ©

Free Shipping for Platinum & Gold members. Free Shipping at $25 for all other shoppers. Details Gift Registry Shop Your Store 2 signin

Jmacys Q sewen O m

Women Men Kids Home Beauty Shoes Handbags Jewelry Furniture & Mattresses Toys Gifts Trending Sale

Your Bag Enter Promo Code  Limit 1 offer per order

Save 20% off today and tomorrow, up to a total of $100 over the two days,
when you become a Macy's Cardholder.” *Subject o credit approval. Exclusions & E APPLY NOW
Details — To see if you have other offers, Sign In.

BEATS [3 Q‘" E‘ $299.00 Congrats! You get Free Shipping! See Exclusions
Sisar Mot Camating e o ‘ Total $299.00
] < Headphones Subtotal $299.00
\ 7 Shipped and sold by Rainforest Deals Shipping ® FREE
Size: ONE SIZE
Color: Sandstone
Web ID: 17089227 Pre-Tax Order Total $299.00

@ Ship to 79835 Proceed To Checkout
Ships from Rainforest Deals

In Stock: Usually ships within 6 business days.

P PayPal [ Klarna. ] { & Pay l
This tem may not be shipped to Federated States of Micronesia, Alaska, Puerto Rico, U.S. Virgin Islands, Marshall Islands, Continue Shopping ‘Shipping Internationally?

American Samoa, Northern Mariana, Guam, Palau, Hawaii

Save For Later Move To List Remove

Bag ID: 7113-444700

Figure 1 — “Bag” Screen From Macys.Com on Apple Mac

402473043.2



Case 6:23-cv-00753 Document 1 Filed 11/07/23 Page 8 of 27

L)) bluemercury.com e

seas B evens bluemercury Qsearen (@ sionimwe Qwishust [l sac

sHoP NEW! BRANDS EXPLORE REWARDS THE CACHE

35% off M-61 with code METFALL Shop Now

YOUR BAG

Sign up or Sign in to BlueRewards for Free Ground Shipping

Your cart (1 item)

Product Price Quantity Total
ELTAMD
i UV Clear Broad-Spectrum Facial Sunscreen SPF $41 $41
g 0
JOIN OUR FREE LOYALTY PROGRAM TO RECEIVE A $10 BEAUTY CARD FOR EVERY .
BLUEREWARDS 65 vou speno. oo JOIN NOW
Subtotal $41

Shipping, Taxes, Beauty Cards, and additional discou "
P PayPal

4 interest-free payments of $10.25 with Kiama. Learn M

Figure 2 — “Bag” Screen from Bluemercury.com on Apple Mac

24.  Defendants also enable customers to complete their purchase using Apple Pay
on Defendants’ iOS applications. For example, when a customer is making a purchase using the
Macy’s 10S application on an iPhone, Macy’s prominently presents the “Apple Pay” button in
the “Bag” screen to enable and encourage the customer to complete the purchase using Apple

Pay before entering the checkout process. See Figure 3.
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pickup at at The Domain (hange Pic...

Ship tc Change Zip

NutriBullet PRO 1200-
Watt Single-Serve Blen...

Q;i‘ Color: Matte Black
‘!! Qty: 1

SALE: $103.95

Subtotal $103.95

Pick up at store (1 item) FREE

Estimated Tax $6.24

Order Total $110.19

Estimated Savi... $26.00
Started a bag already? Sign in to get your items!

‘ P PayPai ’ ‘ & Pay ‘

Bag ID: 7113-445944

ltem availabhilitv and nricina are not auaranteed
= i
A

Home Shop Favorites Bag Accoun t

Figure 3 — Macy’s App “Bag” Review Screen on iPhone

25. Defendants also enable their customers to use Apple Pay to quickly pay for
purchases at its brick & mortar locations. Defendants provide an NFC-enabled POS terminal at
each checkout counter to enable their customers to complete their purchase using Apple Pay.

26. Defendants have knowledge of the Asserted Patents since at least the date of
the filing and/or service of this Complaint.

VII. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 9,824,408
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27. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs 1 to 26 by this reference as
though fully set forth herein.

28. Defendants have directly infringed and continue to directly infringe one or
more claims of the 408 patent literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, pursuant to 35
U.S.C § 271, by making, using, selling, and/or offering to sell within the United States, without
permission or authority the Accused Instrumentalities, all of which enable customers using
certain Apple devices to pay for purchases using Apple Pay.

29. Defendants induce infringement by others of one or more claims of the 408
patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. §271(b) in aiding, instructing, promoting, encouraging or
otherwise acting with the intent to cause other parties, including customers, to use the Accused
Instrumentalities to make purchases using Apple Pay, including by prominently displaying the
“Apple Pay” buy button or logo on their websites and i0S applications. Defendants are aware of
the 408 patent at least as of the filing and/or service of this Complaint, and know or should
know that the inducing acts described herein constitute infringement of the 408 patent.

30. Defendants are also liable for contributory infringement of one or more claims
of the 408 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. §271(c) by providing a material part of the Accused
Instrumentalities used to infringe one or more claims of the *408 patent. Those parts of the
Accused Instrumentalities that enable payment using Apple Pay have no substantial non-
infringing uses. At least as of the filing and/or service of this Complaint Defendants knew that
the Accused Instrumentalities were especially made for use in an infringing manner. For at least
the reasons set forth above, Defendants contribute to the infringement of the *408 patent by

others.

-10-
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31. Defendants continue their infringing actions despite knowing that their actions
constitute an unjustifiably high risk that their activities infringe the 408 patent, which was duly
issued by the USPTO, and is presumed valid. For example, since at least the filing and/or
service of this Complaint, Defendants have been aware of the unjustifiably high risk that their
actions continue to constitute infringement of the 408 patent, and that the 408 patent is valid.
On information and belief, Defendants could not reasonably, subjectively believe that their
actions do not constitute infringement of the 408 patent, and they could not reasonably,
subjectively believe that the 408 patent is invalid. Despite this knowledge and subjective belief,
and the unjustifiably high risk that their actions constitute infringement, Defendants have
continued their infringing activities. As such, Defendants willfully infringe the 408 patent.

32. As just one non-limiting example of Defendants’ direct infringement, set forth
below (with claim language in italics) is a description of Defendants’ direct infringement of
exemplary claim 43 of the 408 patent in connection with Defendants’ sale of products through
their website. Monticello reserves the right to modify this description, including, for example,
on the basis of information that it obtains during discovery:

a. 43. A method comprising: receiving an interaction with a site, the site being
presented in a browser, On information and belief, when Defendants enable their customers to
use Apple Pay to purchase items through Defendants’ website, they will cause their website, as
displayed through a browser, to present the Apple Pay button to customers using an Apple Pay-
capable device. When the customer clicks on the Apple Pay button, Defendants receive this
customer interaction with the website.

b. transmitting, based on the interaction and from the site, via a browser

payment request application programming interface that defines a protocol for communicating
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authorized payment data between the site and the browser, a request associated with a potential
purchase on the site, wherein the request seeks the authorized payment data and wherein the
authorized payment data is usable across multiple sites; On information and belief, in response
to the customer clicking the Apple Pay button, Defendants prepare an Apple Pay Request, which
they transmit from their website to the customer’s browser using either the Apple Pay JS API or
the W3C Payment Request API, which are application programming interfaces that define the
protocol for communicating authorized payment data between a website and a browser. The
Apple Pay Request includes information about the Apple Pay session that will be used for the
potential purchase. The request seeks Apple Pay authorized payment data from the customer’s
device, where the Apple Pay authorized payment data will be in the form of an encrypted Apple
Pay token which is usable across multiple sites.

c. receiving the authorized payment data from the browser, via the browser
payment request application programming interface, and: On information and belief, the
Defendants’ website then receives the requested Apple Pay authorized payment data, including
the encrypted Apple Pay token and other information from the browser via the Apple Pay JS API
or the W3C Payment Request API.

d. submitting the authorized payment data to a payment processor for
processing a purchase. On information and belief, Defendants then pass the Apple Pay token
and other information to Defendants’ payment processor to process the purchase.

VIII. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 10,121,186

33. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs 1 to 26 by this reference as

though fully set forth herein.
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34, Defendants have directly infringed and continue to directly infringe one or
more claims of the *186 patent literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, pursuant to 35
U.S.C § 271, by making, using, selling, and/or offering to sell within the United States, without
permission or authority the Accused Instrumentalities, all of which enable customers using
certain Apple devices to pay for purchases using Apple Pay.

35. Defendants induce infringement by others of one or more claims of the 186
patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. §271(b) in aiding, instructing, promoting, encouraging or
otherwise acting with the intent to cause other parties, including customers, to use the Accused
Instrumentalities to make purchases using Apple Pay, including by prominently displaying the
“Apple Pay” buy button or logo on their websites and i0S applications. Defendants are aware of
the *186 patent at least as of the filing and/or service of this Complaint, and know or should
know that the inducing acts described herein constitute infringement of the ’186 patent.

36. Defendants are also liable for contributory infringement of one or more claims
of the 186 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. §271(c) by providing a material part of the Accused
Instrumentalities used to infringe one or more claims of the 186 patent. Those parts of the
Accused Instrumentalities that enable payment using Apple Pay have no substantial non-
infringing uses. At least as of the filing and/or service of this Complaint Defendants knew that
the Accused Instrumentalities were especially made for use in an infringing manner. For at least
the reasons set forth above, Defendants contribute to the infringement of the *186 patent by
others.

37. Defendants continue their infringing actions despite knowing that their actions
constitute an unjustifiably high risk that their activities infringe the *186 patent, which was duly

issued by the USPTO, and is presumed valid. For example, since at least the filing and/or

-13-
402473043.2



Case 6:23-cv-00753 Document 1 Filed 11/07/23 Page 14 of 27

service of this Complaint, Defendants have been aware of the unjustifiably high risk that their
actions continue to constitute infringement of the *186 patent, and that the *186 patent is valid.
On information and belief, Defendants could not reasonably, subjectively believe that their
actions do not constitute infringement of the 186 patent, and they could not reasonably,
subjectively believe that the *186 patent is invalid. Despite this knowledge and subjective belief,
and the unjustifiably high risk that their actions constitute infringement, Defendants have
continued their infringing activities. As such, Defendants willfully infringe the *186 patent.

38. As just one non-limiting example of Defendants’ direct infringement, set forth
below (with claim language in italics) is a description of Defendants’ direct infringement of
exemplary claim 12 of the 186 patent in connection with Defendants’ sale of products through
their website. Monticello reserves the right to modify this description, including, for example,
on the basis of information that it obtains during discovery:

a. 32. A method comprising: transmitting, from a site, to a browser and via a
browser application programming interface that defines a protocol for communicating data
between the site and a browser, a request associated with a potential purchase, wherein the
request identifies a payment service which can be used to process a payment; and: On
information and belief, when responding to a customer request to use Apple Pay, Defendants
prepare an Apple Pay Request, which they transmit from their website to the customer’s browser
using either the Apple Pay JS API or the W3C Payment Request API, which are application
programming interfaces that define the protocol for communicating authorized payment data
between a website and a browser. The Apple Pay Request, which is based on information
received from the Apple Pay gateway, identifies Apple Pay as the payment service that can be

used to process the payment.
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b. receiving, from the browser and via the browser application programming
interface, a response to the request based on data received at the browser from the payment
service, the data received being in response to a communication, based on the request, from the
browser to the payment service. On information and belief, the Defendants’ website receives a
response from the browser via the via the Apple Pay JS API or the W3C Payment Request API.
The response includes the Apple Pay authorized payment data, including the encrypted Apple
Pay token and other information, which is received by the Browser from a secured location on
the device in response to a communication from the browser to that secured location.

IX. THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 10,643,266

39. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs 1 to 26 by this reference as
though fully set forth herein.

40. Defendants have directly infringed and continue to directly infringe one or
more claims of the *266 patent literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, pursuant to 35
U.S.C § 271, by making, using, selling, and/or offering to sell within the United States, without
permission or authority the Accused Instrumentalities, all of which enable customers using
certain Apple devices to pay for purchases using Apple Pay.

41. Defendants induce infringement by others of one or more claims of the 266
patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. §271(b) in aiding, instructing, promoting, encouraging or
otherwise acting with the intent to cause other parties, including customers, to use the Accused
Instrumentalities to make purchases using Apple Pay, including by prominently displaying the
“Apple Pay” buy button or logo on their websites and i0S applications. Defendants are aware of
the 266 patent at least as of the filing and/or service of this Complaint, and know or should

know that the inducing acts described herein constitute infringement of the 266 patent.
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42. Defendants are also liable for contributory infringement of one or more claims
of the 266 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. §271(c) by providing a material part of the Accused
Instrumentalities used to infringe one or more claims of the *266 patent. Those parts of the
Accused Instrumentalities that enable payment using Apple Pay have no substantial non-
infringing uses. At least as of the filing and/or service of this Complaint Defendants knew that
the Accused Instrumentalities were especially made for use in an infringing manner. For at least
the reasons set forth above, Defendants contribute to the infringement of the *266 patent by
others.

43. Defendants continue their infringing actions despite knowing that their actions
constitute an unjustifiably high risk that their activities infringe the 266 patent, which was duly
issued by the USPTO, and is presumed valid. For example, since at least the filing and/or
service of this Complaint, Defendants have been aware of the unjustifiably high risk that their
actions continue to constitute infringement of the 266 patent, and that the 266 patent is valid.
On information and belief, Defendants could not reasonably, subjectively believe that their
actions do not constitute infringement of the 266 patent, and they could not reasonably,
subjectively believe that the *266 patent is invalid. Despite this knowledge and subjective belief,
and the unjustifiably high risk that their actions constitute infringement, Defendants have
continued their infringing activities. As such, Defendants willfully infringe the 266 patent.

44. As just one non-limiting example of Defendants’ direct infringement, set forth
below (with claim language in italics) is a description of Defendants’ direct infringement of
exemplary claim 1 of the *266 patent in connection with Defendants’ sale of products through
their 10S application. Monticello reserves the right to modify this description, including, for

example, on the basis of information that it obtains during discovery:
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a. 1. A method comprising: transmitting, from an application, to a software
module on a mobile device, a request associated with a payment to the application for a
potential purchase, wherein the request comprises information about the payment, and wherein
the software module comprises a software module application programming interface that
defines a protocol for communicating data between the application and the software module;
and: On information and belief, Defendants’ 10OS application enables customers to pay with
Apple Pay. Defendants’ iOS application responds to a customer selection of Apple Pay as the
method of Payment by transmitting an Apple Pay Request containing details about the potential
purchase to an Apple Pay module on the iOS device where the Apple Pay module includes at
least components of the PassKit API, which defines the protocol for communicating between the
application and the Apple Pay module.

b. receiving, at the application, from the software module and via the software
module application programming interface, authorized payment data, wherein the software
module accesses or receives, based on the request, authorized payment data for the potential
purchase from the mobile device or a network-based entity, wherein the authorized payment data
comprises at least user payment data from a memory of the mobile device and wherein the
authorized payment data can be used in at least part of a payment process. On information and
belief, Defendants’ i10S application receives from the Apple Pay module via the PassKit API
authorized payment data, including an encrypted Apple Pay token and other information, which
the Apple Pay module received, based on the Apple Pay Request, from the device and/or a
network-based entity. The encrypted Apple Pay token and other information includes the
customer’s payment credentials from the customer’s device memory and can be used in at least

part of the payment process.
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X. FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 11,004,139

45. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs 1 to 26 by this reference as
though fully set forth herein.

46. Defendants have directly infringed and continue to directly infringe one or
more claims of the *139 patent literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, pursuant to 35
U.S.C § 271, by making, using, selling, and/or offering to sell within the United States, without
permission or authority the Accused Instrumentalities, all of which enable customers using
certain Apple devices to pay for purchases using Apple Pay.

47. Defendants induce infringement by others of one or more claims of the 139
patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. §271(b) in aiding, instructing, promoting, encouraging or
otherwise acting with the intent to cause other parties, including customers, to use the Accused
Instrumentalities to make purchases using Apple Pay, including by prominently displaying the
“Apple Pay” buy button or logo on their websites and i0S applications. Defendants are aware of
the 139 patent at least as of the filing and/or service of this Complaint, and know or should
know that the inducing acts described herein constitute infringement of the ’139 patent.

48. Defendants are also liable for contributory infringement of one or more claims
of the 139 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. §271(c) by providing a material part of the Accused
Instrumentalities used to infringe one or more claims of the 139 patent. Those parts of the
Accused Instrumentalities that enable payment using Apple Pay have no substantial non-
infringing uses. At least as of the filing and/or service of this Complaint Defendants knew that
the Accused Instrumentalities were especially made for use in an infringing manner. For at least
the reasons set forth above, Defendants contribute to the infringement of the *139 patent by

others.
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49. Defendants continue their infringing actions despite knowing that their actions
constituted an unjustifiably high risk that their activities infringe the *139 patent, which was duly
issued by the USPTO, and is presumed valid. For example, since at least the filing and/or
service of this Complaint, Defendants have been aware of the unjustifiably high risk that their
actions continue to constitute infringement of the *139 patent, and that the 139 patent is valid.
On information and belief, Defendants could not reasonably, subjectively believe that their
actions do not constitute infringement of the *139 patent, and they could not reasonably,
subjectively believe that the *139 patent is invalid. Despite this knowledge and subjective belief,
and the unjustifiably high risk that their actions constitute infringement, Defendants have
continued their infringing activities. As such, Defendants willfully infringe the 139 patent.

50. As just one non-limiting example of Defendants’ direct infringement, set forth
below (with claim language in italics) is a description of Defendants’ direct infringement of
exemplary claim 25 of the *139 patent in connection with Defendants’ sale of products through
their 10S application. Monticello reserves the right to modify this description, including, for
example, on the basis of information that it obtains during discovery:

a. 25. A method comprising: transmitting, from an application operating on a
device, to a module on the device that controls a user interface and according to an application
programming interface that defines a protocol for communicating data between the application
and the module on the device that controls the user interface, a request associated with a
potential purchase, wherein the request comprises information about the potential purchase;
and: On information and belief, Defendants’ 10S application enables customers to pay with
Apple Pay. Defendants’ iOS application responds to a customer selection of Apple Pay as the

method of Payment by transmitting an Apple Pay Request containing details about the potential
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purchase to the Apple Pay module on the i10S device, where the Apple Pay module includes at
least components of the PassKit API, which defines the protocol for communicating between the
application and the Apple Pay module.

b. receiving, at the application, from the module that controls the user
interface and according to the application programming interface, authorized payment data,
wherein the module that controls the user interface retrieved, based on the request, the
authorized payment data for the potential purchase from one of the module that controls the user
interface, the device operating the module that controls the user interface or a network-based
entity separate from the device. On information and belief, Defendants’ 10S application receives
from the Apple Pay module via the PassKit API authorized payment data, including an encrypted
Apple Pay token and other information, which the Apple Pay module received, based on the
Apple Pay Request, from the device and/or a network-based entity.

XI. FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 11,461,828

51. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs 1 to 26 by this reference as
though fully set forth herein.

52. Defendants have directly infringed and continue to directly infringe one or
more claims of the 828 patent literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, pursuant to 35
U.S.C § 271, by making, using, selling, and/or offering to sell within the United States, without
permission or authority the Accused Instrumentalities, all of which enable customers using
certain Apple devices to pay for purchases using Apple Pay.

53. Defendants induce infringement by others of one or more claims of the 828
patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. §271(b) in aiding, instructing, promoting, encouraging or

otherwise acting with the intent to cause other parties, including customers, to use the Accused
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Instrumentalities to make purchases using Apple Pay, including by prominently displaying the
“Apple Pay” buy button or logo on their websites and i0S applications. Defendants are aware of
the 828 patent at least as of the filing and/or service of this Complaint, and know or should
know that the inducing acts described herein constitute infringement of the 828 patent.

54. Defendants are also liable for contributory infringement of one or more claims
of the 828 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. §271(c) by providing a material part of the Accused
Instrumentalities used to infringe one or more claims of the *828 patent. Those parts of the
Accused Instrumentalities that enable payment using Apple Pay have no substantial non-
infringing uses. At least as of the filing and/or service of this Complaint Defendants knew that
the Accused Instrumentalities were especially made for use in an infringing manner. For at least
the reasons set forth above, Defendants contribute to the infringement of the *828 patent by
others.

55. Defendants continue their infringing actions despite knowing that their actions
constitute an unjustifiably high risk that their activities infringe] the *828 patent, which was duly
issued by the USPTO, and is presumed valid. For example, since at least the filing and/or
service of this Complaint, Defendants have been aware of the unjustifiably high risk that their
actions continue to constitute infringement of the *828 patent, and that the 828 patent is valid.
On information and belief, Defendants could not reasonably, subjectively believe that their
actions do not constitute infringement of the 828 patent, and they could not reasonably,
subjectively believe that the 828 patent is invalid. Despite this knowledge and subjective belief,
and the unjustifiably high risk that their actions constitute infringement, Defendants have

continued their infringing activities. As such, Defendants willfully infringe the 828 patent.
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56. As just one non-limiting example of Defendants’ direct infringement, set forth
below (with claim language in italics) is a description of Defendants’ direct infringement of
exemplary claim 1 of the *828 patent in connection with Defendants’ sale of products at their
brick and mortar stores. Monticello reserves the right to modify this description, including, for
example, on the basis of information that it obtains during discovery:

a. 1. A method comprising: establishing a communication between a mobile
device and a separate device a via a wireless link between the mobile device and the separate
device, the communication being associated with a purchase, wherein, on a display of the mobile
device, an instruction is presented associated with the purchase and, after the instruction is
displayed, a combination of a first type of input and a second type of input are received on the
mobile device, the first type of input comprising at least one button press of a physical button
that is separate from the display on the mobile device and the second type of input received from
a user to confirm a payment for the purchase, the second type of input not requiring any
interaction with the display and the second type of input comprising a security measure to
prevent unauthorized purchases, and wherein, based on the combination of the first type of input
and the second type of input, payment data is retrieved from a memory of the mobile device; and.:
On information and belief, Defendants equip their retail brick and mortar stores with POS
terminals that, when in the vicinity of a user device capable of making an Apple Pay payment,
establish a communication between the user device and the POS terminal using near field
communication (NFC) technology, which uses a wireless link, in order to facilitate a payment.
Under certain conditions the display of the user device presents the user with instructions to
press a button on the side of the user device to open Apple Pay on the device and then to

authenticate the user using face ID, touch ID or the device’s passcode. Once these two steps are
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completed, the encrypted Apple Pay token and other information is retrieved from memory in the
user device.

b. receiving the payment data, via the wireless link, at the separate device to
make the purchase, wherein receiving the payment data, via the wireless link, at the separate
device to make the purchase is performed according to a protocol for communicating the
payment data to the separate device. On information and belief, the Defendants’ POS terminal
receives the encrypted Apple Pay token and other information from the user device via the NFC
link using the EMV communications protocol in order to make the purchase.

XII. SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 11,468,497

57. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs 1 to 26 by this reference as
though fully set forth herein.

58. Defendants have directly infringed and continue to directly infringe one or
more claims of the 497 patent literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, pursuant to 35
U.S.C § 271, by making, using, selling, and/or offering to sell within the United States, without
permission or authority the Accused Instrumentalities, all of which enable customers using
certain Apple devices to pay for purchases using Apple Pay.

59. Defendants induce infringement by others of one or more claims of the 497
patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. §271(b) in aiding, instructing, promoting, encouraging or
otherwise acting with the intent to cause other parties, including customers, to use the Accused
Instrumentalities to make purchases using Apple Pay, including by prominently displaying the
“Apple Pay” buy button or logo on their websites and i0S applications. Defendants are aware of
the 497 patent at least as of the filing and/or service of this Complaint, and know or should

know that the inducing acts described herein constitute infringement of the *497 patent.
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60. Defendants are also liable for contributory infringement of one or more claims
of the 497 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. §271(c) by providing a material part of the Accused
Instrumentalities used to infringe one or more claims of the *497 patent. Those parts of the
Accused Instrumentalities that enable payment using Apple Pay have no substantial non-
infringing uses. At least as of the filing and/or service of this Complaint Defendants knew that
the Accused Instrumentalities were especially made for use in an infringing manner. For at least
the reasons set forth above, Defendants contribute to the infringement of the *497 patent by
others.

61. Defendants continue their infringing actions despite knowing that their actions
constitute an unjustifiably high risk that their activities infringe the 497 patent, which was duly
issued by the USPTO, and is presumed valid. For example, since at least the filing and/or
Service of this Complaint, Defendants have been aware of the unjustifiably high risk that their
actions continue to constitute infringement of the 497 patent, and that the *497 patent is valid.
On information and belief, Defendants could not reasonably, subjectively believe that their
actions do not constitute infringement of the 497 patent, and they could not reasonably,
subjectively believe that the 497 patent is invalid. Despite this knowledge and subjective belief,
and the unjustifiably high risk that their actions constitute infringement, Defendants have
continued their infringing activities. As such, Defendants willfully infringe the 497 patent.

62. As just one non-limiting example of Defendants’ direct infringement, set forth
below (with claim language in italics) is a description of Defendants’ direct infringement of
exemplary claim 1 of the 497 patent in connection with Defendants’ sale of products at their
brick and mortar stores. Monticello reserves the right to modify this description, including, for

example, on the basis of information that it obtains during discovery:
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a. 1. A method comprising: establishing, via a merchant device, a
communication between the merchant device and a user device via a wireless link between the
user device and the merchant device, the communication being associated with a potential
purchase and being initiated in connection with the potential purchase, wherein, based on the
communication, the user device presents, on a display of the user device, information associated
with the potential purchase; and: On information and belief, Defendants equip their retail brick
and mortar stores with POS terminals that, when in the vicinity of a user device capable of
making an Apple Pay payment and for the purpose of making a potential purchase, establish a
communication between the user device and the POS terminal using near field communication
(NFC) technology, which uses a wireless link, in order to facilitate a payment for a potential
purchase. Based on this NFC link, information associated with the potential purchase, including
instructions for completing the purchase, is displayed on the user device.

b. receiving, at the merchant device and via the wireless link, user payment
data to make the potential purchase, wherein the user payment data is obtained based on (1) the
user device receiving a single-interaction from a user in response to the information to confirm a
payment for the potential purchase, the single-interaction comprising a security measure to
prevent unauthorized purchases and (2) the user device retrieving, based on the single-
interaction from the user, the user payment data from a memory of the user device, wherein
receiving the user payment data via the wireless link at the merchant device to make a purchase
is performed according to a protocol for communicating the user payment data to the merchant
device. On information and belief, the Defendants’ POS terminal receives the encrypted Apple
Pay token and other information from the user device via the NFC link and the EMV

communications protocol. The encrypted Apple Pay token and other information will be used to
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make the potential purchase. Before the merchant device can receive this payment data, the user

must confirm payment and be authenticated by interacting with the user device using face 1D,

touch ID or the device passcode. Once the user is authenticated the user device retrieves the

encrypted Apple Pay token and other information from memory in the user device.

XIII. JURY DEMAND

63. Monticello demands a jury trial on all issues so triable.

XIV. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Monticello respectfully requests the following relief:

A.

B.

For an order finding that the Asserted Patents are valid and enforceable;

For an order finding that Defendants have infringed the Asserted Patents directly, by
inducement and/or contributorily, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271;

For an order finding that Defendants’ infringement is willful;

For an order awarding Monticello general and/or specific damages adequate to compensate it
for the infringement by Defendants, including at least a reasonable royalty, in an amount to
be fixed by the Court in accordance with proof, including enhanced and/or exemplary

damages, as appropriate;

Judgment that this is an exceptional case under 35 U.S.C. § 285 and awarding Monticello its
reasonable attorneys’ fees; and

For an order awarding Monticello prejudgment and post-judgment interest, costs and other
expenses; and

Such other and further relief as the Court may deem to be just and proper.
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Dated: November 7, 2023 MANATT, PHELPS & PHILLIPS, LLP

Amar L. Thakur (CA Bar No. 194025)
(pro hac vice application forthcoming)
AThakur@manatt.com

695 Town Center Drive

14th Floor

Costa Mesa, CA 92626

Tel.: 714.371.2500

Fax: 714.371.2550

Bruce R. Zisser (CA Bar No. 180607)
(pro hac vice application forthcoming)
BZisser@manatt.com

2049 Century Park East

Suite 1700

Los Angeles, CA 90067

Tel.: 310.312.4000

Fax: 310.312.4224

GEORGE BROTHERS KINCAID & HORTON
LLP

B. Russell Horton

B. Russell Horton

Texas Bar No. 10014450
rhorton@gbkh.com

114 W. 7th Street, Ste. 1100
Austin, Texas 78701

Tel.: (512) 495-1400

Fax: (512) 499-009

Attorneys for Plaintiff Monticello Enterprises,
LLC
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